RECEIVED

NOV 16 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr.

Appellate Case No. 2016-000471

MARIA ALLWIN.....APPELLANT,

v.

RUSS COOPER ASSOCIATES, INC., BUFFINGTON HOMES, L.P., AND SHOPE RENO  
WARTON,..... DEFENDANTS,

OF WHOM, RUSS COOPER ASSOCIATES, INC., AND SHOPE RENO  
WARTON ARE THE ..... RESPONDENTS.

BUFFINGTON HOMES, L.P., ..... THIRD-PARTY PLAINTIFF,

v.

ALBRECHT ENVIRONMENTAL, INC., ALL POINTS CONSTRUCTION, INC., PATRIOTS  
DRYWALL, INC., PICQUET ROOFING, INC., SPRAYSEAL FOAM INSULATION, AND

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

1. Did the Trial Court Err in Granting Defendant Contractor and Architect's Motions for Summary Judgment on the Basis That the Statute of Limitations Barred Maria Allwin's Construction Defect Claims When Conflicting Evidence Existed as to Whether She Acted With Reasonable Diligence?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the trial court's order granting summary judgment to the defendants based on the statute of limitations. On August 5, 2013, Maria Allwin, a homeowner, instituted this construction defect lawsuit against general contractor Russ Cooper Associates, Inc. ("Russ Cooper" or "Contractor") and on October 8, 2014, added architect Shope Reno Wharton ("Shope Reno" or "Architect") alleging negligence, gross negligence and breach of warranty causes of action resulting from the design and construction of Maria Allwin's 11,000 square foot oceanfront home located at 133 Flyway Drive, Kiawah Island, South Carolina (the "Home") (R. pp. 000042-000048). Maria Allwin sought damages for latent and previously undiscoverable deficiencies, decay and rot. (R. pp. 000043-000044).

Architect filed a motion to dismiss on three grounds, including the statute of limitations. Contractor filed a motion for summary judgment, based on the statute of limitations. Architect and Contractor each filed a supporting memorandum. (R. pp. 000056-000061; R. pp. 000062-000088; R. pp. 000089-000138). On September 15, 2015, the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr. held a hearing on Contractor's and Architect's motions (R. pp. 000233-000274), which he granted by order dated December 16, 2015 (R. pp. 000007-000036). Upon receipt of the trial court's order, Maria Allwin filed a Rule 59(e) motion on December 29, 2015, citing as grounds: (1) the Order did not consider or apply *Holly Woods Ass'n of Residence Owners v. Hiller*, 392 S.C. 172, 708

S.E.2d 787 (Ct. App. 2011) and *McAlhany v. Carter*, 415 S.C. 54, 57, 781 S.E.2d 105, 107 (Ct. App. 2015) (decided November 12, 2015, after oral arguments in this case); (2) the Order did not consider the Plaintiff's affidavit or her expert's affidavit, which taken in the light most favorable to Maria Allwin, created at least a question of fact as to what damages she knew or could have known through the exercise of reasonable diligence; (3) the Order did not consider the Contractor Russ Cooper's deposition testimony that complete decladding of the siding was extreme —not required by the exercise of reasonable diligence — and the fact the Architect told Maria Allwin that her experts' scope of repair, which uncovered many of the defects, was unnecessary, both of which created a disputed issue of material fact regarding what was required in the exercise of reasonable diligence; (4) The Order made improper factual conclusions that Maria Allwin was "well aware of the alleged defects" and "failed to act with reasonable diligence" when the record presented disputed facts and a dispute as to the conclusion to be drawn from those facts; and (5) the Order improperly granted summary judgment because the facts present at least a scintilla of evidence that some of the conditions and damages for which Maria Allwin sought recovery could not have been known through the exercise of reasonable diligence. (R. pp. 000195-000199). On January 28, 2016, Judge Nicholson denied the Motion to Alter or Amend without rehearing. (R. p. 000037). Plaintiff received notice of the Order denying her Motion to Reconsider on February 1, 2016.

This appeal follows. Allwin served Respondents with notice of the appeal on March 2, 2016. (R. p. 000200).

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Maria Allwin is a resident of Connecticut who has, since 1994, owned the Home that is the subject of this lawsuit. Maria Allwin originally built the home with her husband, Jim Allwin,

who was primarily responsible for dealing with the Home until he died in 2007. (R. p. 000177 ¶ 3). After Jim Allwin's death, Maria became primarily responsible for the Home, which is a large, complex structure occupying two adjoining lots on the front beach at Kiawah. (R. p. 000177 ¶ 2).

The Home faces the ocean and is exposed to the heat, wind, and rain coming off the water and as such has required significant upkeep, repair, and maintenance through the years. (R. p. 000177 ¶ 3,4). Jim, prior to his death, and subsequently Maria retained and paid contractors over the years to perform maintenance and repairs, which were generally assumed to be a consequence of owning a large home exposed to the ocean and the weather in a hot and humid climate. (R. p. 000177 ¶ 3,4).

Because the Home was not the Allwins' primary residence, in approximately late 2001, they hired Gamble Home Services as property manager to oversee and maintain the Home. In 2003, the Allwins hired Milton Morgan, a contractor, to oversee repair and maintenance work at the Home, which Buffington Homes performed. (R. p. 00070). Morgan prepared a scope of work, which provided for the repair of localized problem areas. (R. pp. 001187-001189)<sup>1</sup>. Mr. Buffington of Buffington Homes, a contractor, priced the scope but expressed concern to the Allwins about whether, in some instances, more work was needed. (R. p. 000071; R. pp. 001194-001199). One concern was the roof. Although Buffington recommended a new roof, Picquet Roofing recommended a repair and repainting for an estimated cost of \$35,000. (R. p. 001186). Based upon the advice of Mr. Morgan, the Allwins proceeded with the more limited Morgan scope of repair. (R. pp. 001183-001186; R. pp. 001187-001189). In summary, although Buffington recommended — *in a few areas* — a more aggressive option, the Allwins chose the conservative course of action.

---

<sup>1</sup> All Exhibits Numbers refer to the Exhibits to Russ Cooper's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, which are also referenced in the Order Granting Summary Judgment.

As part of its efforts, Buffington Homes hired an engineering firm, CSA, to survey the home. (R. pp. 001155-001171, R. p. 000017). CSA noted that the purpose of its survey was to determine the sources of “isolated areas of damage and fungal growth” in the Home. (R. p. 001156). CSA surveyed the Home on two days (June 30, 2003 and July 17, 2003) and in summary concluded: “In summary, outside air infiltration is the dominant source of moisture in the home and can be resolved by sealing air leakage paths and pressuring the home. Isolated cases of water damage can be investigated and repaired on an individual basis.” (R. p. 001164).

As the work proceeded, Buffington found areas of damage Mr. Morgan did not anticipate and performed additional work, which increased the cost of the work Mr. Buffington performed from \$238,504 to \$359,728.21. (R. p. 001200; R. pp. 001285-001292). The Allwins paid for the additional work. While the work was being performed, Plaintiff made a claim with AIG under the Allwins’ homeowners’ policy. AIG denied the claim. (R. pp. 001343-001353).

In subsequent years, the Allwins continued to make considerable efforts to investigate and maintain the Home. In 2008, Maria Allwin hired Victoria Stein with Atlantic Builders. Ms. Stein issued a report regarding the Home, which ended with the following conclusion: “It is my opinion that major contributing factor for the high humidity that is supporting the presents [sic] of fungus growth is the installation of the 40-ton chiller system.” Thus, Ms. Stein concluded the major problem with the Home was the HVAC system installed in 2001, with which Russ Cooper was not involved. (R. pp. 001440-001449).

In 2009, two years after Jim Allwin’s death, Ms. Allwin met with Skip Lewis, an engineer, with the goal of discussing management of ongoing maintenance and repair costs. (R. p. 000178 ¶7). Mr. Lewis was to perform a property condition assessment and develop a life cycle repair for maintenance of the Home. That work was never done. (R. p. 000178 ¶7).

In 2011, Ms. Allwin hired Fuller Consulting Engineers (“Fuller Engineers”) to perform a thorough forensic investigation into the condition of the Home, the first time such an investigation had been requested. In its preliminary report, Ross Clements, an architect with Fuller Consulting reported on a number of construction deficiencies at the Home. (R. pp. 000182-000187). While some of the problems Fuller noted were in areas the Allwins had experienced prior concerns and which had been subsequently repaired, many were not. In addition to specific repairs, and because of concern about unknown conditions, Fuller suggested a comprehensive scope of repair of the Home, to include the removal of the roof and all of the exterior siding and interior drywall and the removal of a large concrete deck on the ocean side of the Home, so that Fuller Consulting could ensure that any unexposed and unknown defects could be repaired. (R. p. 000179 ¶ 11; R. pp. 001426-001436).

At this point, Maria Allwin sought the input of the Respondent Architect Shope Reno Wharton. (R. p. 000179 ¶ 12). Shope Reno’s representative agreed to travel to South Carolina to meet with Maria Allwin and discuss Fuller’s recommendations. At that meeting, with knowledge of the history of repairs to the Home, Shope Reno’s representative, a South Carolina licensed architect, advised Maria that he did not see evidence of systemic, pervasive problems at the Home of the sort Fuller sought to correct. (R. p. 000179 ¶ 12). Rather, he suggested, like many before him, that Maria Allwin needed to make isolated repairs to the Home and to perform routine maintenance. *Id.*

After meeting with the Architect Shope Reno’s representative, Maria Allwin agreed to go forward with the scope of work recommended by Fuller Engineers, and Fuller Engineers hired Phillip Smith to implement those repairs, which included the complete removal of all exterior

siding, interior drywall, the roof and the concrete deck on the ocean side of the Home. (R. pp. 000178-000179 ¶ 13.)

As reflected in the Affidavit of Ross Clements of Fuller Consulting Engineers, Inc. (R. pp. 000189-00194), the removal of those building components exposed, for the first time, extensive and pervasive original construction deficiencies that could not have been seen, and would not have been known, absent the wholesale deconstruction of the Home. (R. pp. 000191-000192 ¶ 15, 16). According to Clements, the latent construction defects, which are the subject of the present action, were, in his opinion, unprecedented:

Furthermore, it is my opinion that the level of destructive testing and deconstruction required at the subject residence to uncover latent defects was unprecedented in my experience as a forensic architect. It would be unreasonable for a homeowner to determine such a level of destructive testing or deconstruction was necessary based on the visual deficiencies observed. ***In my opinion, the root cause of many of the observed visual deficiencies could not have been explained without complete removal of the interior and exterior building components.*** Additionally, through the deconstruction of the current repair project, we uncovered many instances of previously unknown construction defects and defects that were more pervasive than what was observed during limited destructive testing.

(R. pp. 000192). (Emphasis Added). Mr. Clements identified at least 32 defective conditions including defects in the installation of the roof underlayment, sheathing and framing; the Tyvek weather-resistive barrier (WRB); building felt behind the stucco; windows and doors; waterproofing and flashing; and patios. (R. pp. 000192-000193). As noted in his affidavit, many of the defects *could not have been discovered* without complete removal of the exterior and interior building components. *Id.*

The Contractor Russ Cooper's deposition testimony also corroborates the testimony of Plaintiff's expert, Mr. Clements, regarding the latency of the defects and the extreme nature of the investigation. Russ Cooper acknowledges that although framing and WRB are observable

during construction, once they are covered by exterior cladding, these components are no longer observable:

Q But you would agree with me that if you are out on the site and you observe a deficiency, something that you do see and recognize as a deficiency, once that framing is covered up by drywall or exterior sheeting or siding, then you can no longer observe it?

A If you can't see it, you cannot observe it.

Q And are you comfortable that the same thing would be true with something like WRB? Is that right? It's installed on the wall by Mr. Carrigan or whoever else installed it, and it's observable by you, as the general contractor while it's installed on the walls. Is that right?

A WRB?

Q I'm sorry. Building wrap.

MR. BEST: Weather resistant barrier.

BY MR. LYLES:

Q Weather resistant barrier. Tyvek.

A Okay. Yes.

Q And then at some point that WRB or Tyvek is going to be covered up by exterior cladding, in this case I guess shingles of some sort?

A That is correct.

Q And installation defects in the WRB, once the shingles go up, are no longer observable?

A They are not.

Q Would you agree with me that if this Tyvek is covered by cedar siding, that the manner of installation of the Tyvek would not be readily observable by an owner of the house?

Q If you assume for a minute that the stucco that is shown to the left covered the balance of the chimney, would you agree with me that that flashing condition and the condition of the building felt was something that was concealed behind the stucco?

A Yes.

(R. p. 001049, line 4-p. 001050, line 5; R. p. 001067, line 7-12)

Cooper also testified as follows:

Q If we assume for a minute that this Tyvek installation is how it was installed during original construction, would you agree with me that there is no way that anybody could have observed that, absent the removal of the shingles?

A There is no way you could see through the shingles. And if I had seen that, it would never have stayed.

(R. p. 001077, lines 1-8).

Russ Cooper further testified as follows with regard to the removal of siding and interior drywall to investigate isolated water leaks:

Lyles: Would you agree with me that removal of all the siding on a house like that is an extreme measure?

Cooper: You're asking me if a 1992 system, in 2015, is an extreme measure to change what was built in 1992 to 2015, and my answer is no, it is not an extreme measure.

Lyles: I'm asking you if it would be an extreme measure for an owner to remove all the siding on his house to determine the source of water infiltration.

Cooper: That's an extreme measure.

(R. p. 001063, lines 1-24).

Clements' affidavit and Russ Cooper's deposition testimony establish that significant latent deficiencies existed at the Home, which were uncovered, for the first time, during the Fuller/Smith repair. The cost to repair the latent defects uncovered by the work of Ross Clements and Phillip Smith, incurred since 2011, is approximately \$3,000,000. That is the sum Ms. Allwin seeks to recover in this lawsuit, along with loss of use.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

An appellate court reviews a grant of summary judgment applying the same well-established standard as the trial court pursuant to Rule 56, SCRCP. *See McAlhany v. Carter*, 415

S.C. 54, 62, 781 S.E.2d 105, 110 (Ct. App. 2015), reh'g denied (Jan. 28, 2016). Summary judgment should only be granted when it is clear there is no dispute concerning either the facts *or* the inference to be drawn from those facts. *Id.* “In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 341 S.C. 320, 327, 534 S.E.2d 672, 675 (2000). In evaluating a motion for summary judgment, an appellate court is required “to liberally construe the record in favor of the nonmoving party and give the nonmoving party the benefit of all favorable inferences that might reasonably be drawn therefrom.” *Estes v. Roper Temp. Servs., Inc.*, 304 S.C. 120, 121, 403 S.E.2d 157, 158 (Ct. App. 1991). Summary judgment is a “drastic remedy” that should be “cautiously invoked so no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues.” *Murphy v. Tyndall*, 384 S.C. 50, 54, 681 S.E.2d 28, 30 (Ct. App. 2009) (quoting *Carolina All. for Fair Employment v. S. Carolina Dep't of Labor, Licensing, & Regulation*, 337 S.C. 476, 485, 523 S.E.2d 795, 799 (Ct. App. 1999)).

### ARGUMENT

**I. The Trial Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgment on the Grounds that the Statute of Limitations Barred Maria Allwin's Claims Because Conflicting Evidence Exists and a Jury Should Determine the Issue.**

The burden of establishing the bar of the statute of limitations rests upon the one interposing it, and when the evidence or the inference to be drawn from the evidence is conflicting, the fact finder at trial should decide the issue and not the court on summary judgment motion. The trial court's finding that the statute expired was based on its impermissible factual finding that Maria Allwin was on notice of the alleged defects in Russ Cooper's construction of her home such that the statute of limitations bars all claims for defects that she

has or could assert against Russ Cooper. (R. pp. 000007-000036). In addition, the trial court also found that Appellant failed to act with “reasonable diligence,” and in a “timely fashion in response to clearly observable and known problems.” (R. p. 000035). In reaching such conclusions, the trial court impermissibly weighed conflicting testimony and failed to view the evidence before it in the light most favorable to Maria Allwin as the non-moving party. Moreover, the trial court relied on cases that did not involve latent defects and were inapplicable to the facts of the instant case and also failed to explain why cases, clearly supporting the denial of summary judgment, either did not apply or were distinguishable. Based upon the record before the Court, a jury may well find that Allwin acted with reasonable diligence by investigating, making repairs, and following a conservative course and that in doing so, she would not and could not discover certain latent defects until her Home was completely deconstructed in 2011.

For these reasons, the trial court’s order granting summary judgment should be reversed.

**A. The Trial Court Did Not View the Evidence Before It in the Light Most Favorable to Maria Allwin and Made Impermissible Findings of Fact.**

The statute of limitations applicable to the instant case is three years. S.C. Code Ann. § 15–3–530. Under South Carolina law, it is well-settled that the statute of limitations begins to run from the time that the cause of action accrues; however, it is often difficult to determine when that time arrives. The test in determining whether a cause of action has accrued is whether the party asserting the claim can maintain an action to enforce it. *McAlhany v. Carter*, 415 S.C. 54, 67, 781 S.E.2d 105, 112 (Ct. App. 2015), reh’g denied (Jan. 28, 2016). “Under the discovery rule, the three-year clock starts ticking on the date the injured party either knows or should have known by the exercise of reasonable diligence that a cause of action arises from the wrongful conduct.” *Holly Woods Ass’n of Residence Owners v. Hiller*, 392 S.C. 172, 183, 708 S.E.2d 787, 793 (Ct. App. 2011) (internal citation omitted). Application of the discovery rule contained in

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-535, as well as the determination of the date the statute began to run in a particular case, are questions of fact for the jury when the parties present conflicting evidence and to not only when the statute began to run but also as to which claims may be barred. *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 341 S.C. 320, 338, 534 S.E.2d 672, 681 (2000); *McAlhany v. Carter*, 415 S.C. at 64; *Hollywoods Ass'n*, 392 S.C. at 185 (holding that whether the damages the HOA claimed in the suit were different from those experienced in the past was a question of fact for the jury).

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