THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

NOV 16 2016

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000471

Maria Allwin.....Appellant,

v.

Russ Cooper Associates, Inc., Buffington Homes, L.P., and Shope Reno Wharton.....Defendants,

Of whom Russ Cooper Associates, Inc., and Shope Reno Wharton are the Respondents.

Buffington Homes, L.P., Third-Party Plaintiff,

v.

Albrecht Environmental, Inc., All Points Construction, Inc., Patriots Drywall, Inc., Picquet Roofing, Inc., Sprayseal Foam Insulation, and Tischler Und Sohn (USA) Limited, Third-Party Defendants.

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

In addition to the notice of a claim against SRW for design deficiencies, more than three (3) years before actually bringing a claim, Appellant was provided evidence of defects in the beach house as best detailed in Respondent RCA's Initial Brief section "Statement of the Case." Time and time again, Appellant ignored the clear counsel, advice and recommendations of several experts and consultants, waiting for over 15 years after receiving her first written notice of the existence of roof leaks, interior damage, and basement leaks within the beach house, to file her Complaint, alleging the discovery of "latent defects" in the design and construction of her beach house. (See Resp. RCA Final Brief, pp. 1-16 and R. pp. 38-41).

**I. THE TRIAL COURT'S DETERMINATION THAT APPELLANT'S CLAIMS AGAINST RESPONDENT ARE TIME-BARRED IS THE LAW OF THE CASE AND DISPOSITIVE OF THIS APPEAL.**

As discussed hereinabove, the Trial Court determined that The Letter sent from Appellant to Respondent SRW over three years prior to filing suit against SRW entitled Respondent to summary judgment. (R. pp. 7-36). The Letter, dated February 23, 2011, was sent on behalf of Appellant through counsel and detailed that: 1) counsel had been retained by Appellant in connection with "significant deficiencies" at the beach house; 2) deficiencies, uncovered by an investigation "relate to the design/installation" of various building components; and 3) deficiencies "have led to significant damage" to the beach house. The Letter was intended to place Respondent on notice of a potential claim and instructed Respondent to "forward this letter to your attorney and to your insurance agent/broker and any known liability insurance carriers." (R. pp. 1469-1470).

As noted in the Order and hereinafter, Appellant named Respondent as a defendant on October 8, 2014. (R. p. 33). The Trial Court concluded The Letter notified

respondent “of a potential claim against it, due to design and construction deficiencies” and “was sent more than three years and seven months before the lawsuit was filed against [Respondent] in October of 2014.” Id. In consideration of The Letter, the Trial Court concluded that “[t]he clear and undisputed evidence before the Court establishes that [Appellant] was on notice of the alleged defects[ . . . ] in the design work performed by [Respondent] for more than three years prior to filing this lawsuit.” Id.

Despite taking issue with several specific points within the Order, Appellant has failed to challenge the Trial Court’s ruling that The Letter confirmed Appellant’s knowledge of claims against SRW and established that prosecution of those claims was made outside the relevant statute of limitations period. It is well-settled, that “an unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance.” Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013). “Thus, should the appealing party fail to raise all of the grounds upon which a lower court's decision was based, those unappealed findings—whether correct or not—become the law of the case.” Dreher v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 412 S.C. 244, 249-50, 772 S.E.2d 505, 508 (2015); See also Judy v. Martin, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009) (“Under the law-of-the-case doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating . . . , [*inter alia*,] matters that were not raised on appeal, but should have been . . . .”). Further, “[u]nder the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become law of the case.” Atl. Coast Builders & Contrs., LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 328, 730 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2012).

Although Appellant challenges several of the Trial Court's rulings, Appellant has failed to appeal this ruling. The failure to do so renders the Trial Court's conclusion, that The Letter is "clear and undisputed evidence" that Appellant had actual knowledge of the alleged defects more than three years prior to filing suit against Respondent SRW, the law of the case. See Shirley Iron Works. Moreover, because this issue establishes that Appellant's claims were made outside the statute of limitations period, this issue is dispositive of the instant appeal as it relates to Respondent SRW.<sup>1</sup> Accordingly, the Trial Court's Order should be affirmed.

## **II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING SRW'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.**

### **A. Appellant failed to pursue claims against Respondent SRW within the applicable statute of limitations period.**

The statute of limitations period for a construction defect case is three years. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530. Appellant had actual and constructive knowledge of defects with her beach house as early as 1999 and was provided with further notice continuously thereafter from a myriad of sources, yet did not pursue her claim against Respondent until October 8, 2014. (See Resp. RCA Final Brief, pp. 2-16). Appellant's assertion that the statute of limitations did not expire prior to the filing of this action is wholly without merit as will be detailed herein.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> Without waiving its argument that the failure to appeal the Trial Court's ruling concerning The Letter is dispositive of this appeal, Respondent will also respond to Appellant's arguments.

<sup>2</sup> With the primary distinction between Respondent RCA and Respondent SRW being The Letter addressed only to SRW and the timing of the litigation against each by Appellant, the arguments and analysis in opposition to this appeal, as set forth in Respondent RCA's Initial Brief, are equally applicable to SRW in its nearly identical position. Accordingly, SRW fully incorporates the arguments and analysis contained in Respondent RCA's Initial Brief as if set forth herein.

Statutes of limitations are not simply technicalities. Moates v. Bobb, 322 S.C. 172, 176, 470 S.E.2d 402, 404 (Ct. App. 1996). “On the contrary, they have long been respected as fundamental to a well-ordered judicial system.” Hooper v. Ebenezer Senior Servs. & Rehab. Ctr., 377 S.C. 217, 227, 659 S.E.2d 213, 218 (Ct. App. 2008). “Statutes of limitations embody important public policy concerns as they stimulate activity, punish negligence, and promote repose by giving security and stability to human affairs.” Kelly v. Logan, Jolley, & Smith, L.L.P., 383 S.C. 626, 632, 682 S.E.2d 1, 4 (Ct. App. 2009). “One purpose of a statute of limitations is “to relieve the courts of the burden of trying stale claims when a plaintiff has slept on his [or her] rights.” Id. The Statute of limitations also works “to protect potential defendants from protracted fear of litigation.” Id. (internal citation omitted). “Statutes of limitations are, indeed, fundamental to our judicial system.” Id. (internal citation omitted).

Under the “Discovery rule,” the statute of limitations period begins to run on a cause of action when it “reasonably ought to have been discovered.” Dean v. Ruscon Corp., 321 S.C. 360, 468 S.E.2d 645 (1996). “Under this rule, a cause of action accrues for purposes of the statute of limitations when a plaintiff has notice that he *might* have a remedy for a harm. Rumpf v. Mass. Mut. Life Ins. Co., 357 S.C. 386, 394, 593 S.E.2d 183, 187 (Ct. App. 2004), *citing* Dean v. Ruscon Corp., 321 S.C. 360, 468 S.E.2d 645 (1996). The statute runs from the date the injured party “either knows or should have known by the exercise of reasonable diligence that a cause of action arises from the wrongful conduct.” Rumpf, 357 S.C. at 394, 593 S.E.2d at 187. Put another way, the statute of limitations commences not simply due to knowledge, but by knowledge of facts, diligently acquired, sufficient to put a person on notice of the existence of a cause

of action against another. Grillo v. Speedrite Prods., Inc., 340 S.C. 498, 503, 532 S.E.2d 1, 3 (Ct. App. 2000).

The commencement of the statute of limitations is not triggered by seeking the advice of counsel, once a full-blown theory of recovery is developed, or even when a person obtains actual knowledge of a potential claim or the facts giving rise thereto; rather, the statute of limitations commences when the party knows or should know of a claim under an objective analysis. Grillo, 340 at 503, 532 S.E.2d at 3; Burgess v. Am. Cancer Soc., S.C. Div., Inc., 300 S.C. 182, 186, 386 S.E.2d 798, 800 (Ct. App. 1989). Moreover, “the fact that the injured party may not comprehend the full extent of the damage is immaterial.” Dean, 321 S.C. at 364, 468 S.E.2d at 647 (1996).

In the case at hand, the Trial Court was presented with uncontested facts that Appellant had both actual and constructive knowledge of persistent and pervasive damage to her beach home beginning as early as 1999. (See Resp. RCA Final Brief, pp. 2-16). These known defects led Appellant to retain several experts and contractors to inspect and implement partial repairs on the beach home; however, despite having actual and constructive knowledge of said defects, Appellant did the very thing the statute of limitations seeks to guard against—she sat on her rights. Now, at this late date, Appellant is seeking to overturn the Trial Court’s well-reasoned Order so that she may resurrect her claims that she was aware of for over a decade before filing suit.

**B. The Trial Court applied the correct standard of review.**

Appellant contends the Trial Court erred by failing to view the evidence in the light most favorable to her as the non-moving party. (App. Brief, pp. 11-14). Appellant

further argues the Trial Court selected “unfavorable” evidence for inclusion in the Order for Summary Judgment in lieu of citing evidence that was seemingly more in favor of Appellant’s position. (App. Brief, pp. 11-14). Appellant cites two instances of “unfavorable” evidence in her brief and contends that inclusion of that evidence serves as proof the trial court did not apply the correct summary judgment standard, and thus, warrants reversal of the Trial Court’s Order. (App. Brief, pp. 12-14). However, Appellant did not challenge the inclusion of that evidence in the Order for Summary Judgment before the Trial Court in her Rule 59 Motion. Instead, Appellant has raised this argument for the first time in her initial brief. See Prince v. Beaufort Mem. Hosp., 392 S.C. 599, 611, 709 S.E.2d 122, 128 (Ct. App. 2011) (stating it is “axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review”). Accordingly, Appellant’s argument was not preserved for appellate review and should not be considered by this Court.

In addition to the failure to preserve this argument for appellate review, Appellant has not challenged the accuracy of the two instances of “unfavorable” evidence; rather, Appellant simply contends that the evidence is not favorable to her position. In fact, Appellant has not challenged any of the evidence included in the Trial Court’s detailed, twenty page findings of fact, which firmly establishes Appellant had knowledge of the alleged defects in her beach house as early as 1999. (R. p. 11-33). The mountain of evidence, discussed exhaustively in the Trial Court’s Order, details Appellant’s knowledge of water intrusion and other issues reported to her repeatedly by houseguests, a property manager, contractors, engineers, and experts from 1999 until initiation of this

lawsuit. Appellant has not challenged that she was informed by these individuals of the issues with her beach house and has not presented any conflicting evidence. See Regions Bank v. Schmauch, 354 S.C. 648, 582 S.E.2d 432 (Ct. App. 2003) (stating “[o]nce the party moving for summary judgment meets the initial burden of showing an absence of evidentiary support for the opponent’s case, the opponent cannot simply rest on mere allegations or denials contained in the pleadings.”); See Ellis v. Davidson, 358 S.C. 509, 518-19, 595 S.E.2d 817, 822 (Ct. App. 2004) (stating to defeat summary judgment the nonmoving party must come forward with specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial). Accordingly, the facts, as set forth in the Order are not at issue in this appeal. Rather, Appellant’s argument is nothing more than a challenge of the Trial Court’s reliance on uncontested evidence that Appellant believes is “unfavorable.” However, Appellant has not challenged the veracity of the evidence nor has she presented conflicting evidence to create a question of fact. Instead, Appellant is seeking the reversal of the Trial Court’s decision because the Order cites “unfavorable” evidence.

Appellant’s squabble with the Trial Court’s Order of Summary Judgment is simply a by-product of a case devoid of favorable facts that leaves no question for jury determination. The Trial Court’s consideration and inclusion of facts that Appellant deems “unfavorable” is not indicative of the Trial Court’s disregard for the proper summary judgment standard of viewing facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Rather, the Trial Court was presented with an abundance of uncontested evidence that, even when viewed in the light most favorable to appellant, failed to create a reasonable inference necessary to survive summary judgment. Moreover, viewing evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party does not require a trial court

to turn a blind eye to unchallenged evidence, simply because it may not benefit the party opposing the motion. A trial court "cannot ignore facts unfavorable to [the non-moving] party and [it] must determine whether a verdict for the party opposing the motion would be reasonably possible under the facts." Bloom v. Ravoira, 339 S.C. 417, 423, 529 S.E.2d 710, 713 (2000).

Accordingly, Appellant's disagreement with the facts relied upon and cited by the Trial Court does not equate to an instance of the Trial Court disregarding the appropriate standard of review for a summary judgment motion. The Trial Court evaluated this case under the proper standard and correctly determined that no question of fact for a jury existed. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the Trial Court's Order for Summary Judgment.

**C. The Trial Court relied on well-founded case law.**

Appellant challenges the trial court's reliance on Dean and Barr<sup>3</sup>, and contends the trial court erred in failing to consider and apply the Santee<sup>4</sup>, Centex Homes<sup>5</sup>, McAlhany<sup>6</sup>, and Holly Woods<sup>7</sup> cases. The Trial Court committed no error in the case law it relied upon to form the basis of the Order of Summary Judgment.

As an initial matter, Appellant has not fully preserved the arguments in Appellant's Section B for appellate review. As discussed in more detail below, the Trial Court included a discussion of the Dean and Barr opinions in its Order. Appellant did not

---

<sup>3</sup> Barr v. City of Rock Hill, 330 S.C. 640, 500 S.E.2d 157 (Ct. App. 1998).

<sup>4</sup> Santee Portland Cement Co. v. Daniel Int'l Corp., 299 S.C. 269, 384 S.E.2d 693 (1989).

<sup>5</sup> Centex Homes v. S. Carolina State Plastering, LLC., 2010 WL 2998519.

<sup>6</sup> McAlhany v. Carter, 415 S.C. 54, 781 S.E.2d 105 (Ct. App. 2015).

<sup>7</sup> Holly Woods Assoc. of Residence Owners v. Hiller, 385 S.C. 344, 682 S.E.2d 818 (Ct. App. 2009).

challenge the inclusion of those opinions in the Order for Summary Judgment via its Rule 59 Motion. Accordingly, any argument regarding the inclusion or reliance upon Dean and Barr is a new argument and not preserved for appellate review. See Regions, 354 S.C. at 662, 582 S.E.2d at 439 (Ct. App. 2003) (stating it is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review). Moreover, although Appellant challenges the Trial Court's perceived failure to consider or apply the Holly Woods and McAlhany opinions in her Rule 59 Motion, Appellant failed to raise a similar argument concerning the Santee and Centex opinions. Accordingly, Appellant's arguments regarding Santee and Centex are not preserved for appellate review. Id.

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